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ASX: ICG EXPLORING PORPHYRIES IN PERU



On behalf of the team at Inca I extend my sincere 
thanks to shareholders for their support and loyalty 
throughout the year. It has been a year of challenge 
and exciting change the most notable of these 
changes being Inca now possesses projects of such 
scale and potential they are well capable of delivering 
a world-class discovery.

The Company commenced the year as Condor Metals 
Limited (Condor), a junior company exploring for gold, 
nickel and base metals in Western Australia.  In March 
2012 Condor completed a takeover of Inca Minerals 
Limited, an unlisted public company in possession of 
exciting gold-silver-copper-molybdenum porphyry 
projects in the premier exploration destination of 
Peru.  In May 2012 shareholders voted to change the 
listed Company’s name from Condor to Inca Minerals 
Limited reflecting a new project focus and new 
direction for the Company.

The year saw important changes to the Inca Board. 
In March the Company appointed Ross Brown as its 
Managing Director and Laurie Ziatas as an additional 
non-executive director.  In May, Laurence Freedman, 
Ross Gillon and Robert Schuitema, three directors who 
guided the Company through the majority of the 2012 
financial year, including the takeover of Inca Minerals 
Limited, resigned.  The Company extends its sincere 
thanks to these three directors for their contribution 
throughout the year.  In May of this year I was pleased 
to join Ross Brown and Laurie Ziatas on the Inca Board 
and in September it was equally pleasing to have 
Gareth Lloyd join Inca’s Board.

With junior explorers facing challenges in the capital 
raising market, a new flagship project for Inca in Peru, 
a new Board and a priority on being efficient and 
effective with shareholder funds, it was an exciting 
milestone for the Company when the work and 
exploration conducted at Chanape, the Company’s 
flagship project, confirmed the existence of a large 
high-sulphide gold-silver-copper epithermal porphyry 
system.

Reward for work and effort was also a highlight of 
the year in terms of the Company’s relationship with 
the Checa and Parak communities in Peru.  Inca’s 
relationship with the community, its investment and 
contribution to their wellbeing and cultural heritage, 
and their consensus and involvement in the Company’s 
exploration activities is vital.  Consequently, Inca was 
extremely pleased to receive community endorsement 
and permission for its planned drilling and exploration 
activities at Chanape.  This permission can now be 
presented to Peruvian government departments as 
an essential part of the newly introduced permitting 
regime in Peru. 

While there can be no underestimating the likelihood 
of future hurdles and challenges, Inca is a strong and 
focussed company intent on exploration, realising the 
potential of its projects, managing shareholder funds 
and rewarding shareholders for their continued and 
valued support.

Justin Walawski
Chairman

ChAiRmAN’S REviEw 
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ASX: ICG EXPLORING PORPHYRIES IN PERU



During the year Condor Metals Limited launched a successful take-over bid for Inca Minerals Limited, a public 
unlisted company, and in doing so acquired a number of highly prospective porphyry projects in Peru. Following 
the take-over, Condor Metals changed its name to Inca Minerals Limited (“Inca” “Company”), reduced the number 
of directors of the board and changed the ASX code from CNK to ICG. 

Following the take-over, the focus of the Company has become the development of its new porphyry assets 
in Peru, with particular emphasis on the advancement of the Company’s flagship Chanape Au-Ag-Cu Porphyry 
Project.

Chanape is a tremendously exciting project. Through its exploration efforts this year, the Company confirmed the 
occurrence of a high-sulphide (“HS”) epithermal gold, silver and copper, polyphase porphyry system. Porphyry 
deposits are among the World’s most important sources of copper and gold.

The Company’s expanded portfolio of projects includes:

Peru

• Chanape Au-Ag-Cu Porphyry Project

• Jose Alonso Cu-Mo Porphyry Project

• Agua Blanco Cu-Mo Porphyry Project

• Oscar Alberto Project Cu-Mo Porphyry Project

• Virgen De Chapi Cu-Mo Porphyry Project 

Jose Alonso, Agua Blanco, Oscar Alberto and Virgen De Chapi are collectively referred to and make up the Moquegua Regional 
Project

Western Australia

• Kalgoorlie NE Au-Ni-Cu Project

• Dingo Range Ni-Cu Project

• Southern Cross Au Project

• Kallona Mn Project

CHANAPE 
EXPLORATION HIGHLIGHTS
The company has discovered a HS gold-silver-copper epithermal polyphase porphyry system at Chanape. The Company 
undertook several orientation programs at Chanape to verify and confirm previous results, and in the process, brought to 
light the full potential of the project. This work included geophysical data acquisition and preliminary interpretation, regional 
spectral analysis, re-logging and re-sampling of previous diamond drill core and geological mapping.

Highlights of this year’s operations include:

• Identification of a large, pronounced “ring-shaped” magnetic anomaly at Chanape: This anomaly is most likely associated 
with deep propylitic or potassic alteration associated with a buried porphyry.

• Identification of a large, discrete Spontaneous Potential (SP) anomaly: This anomaly is most likely associated with phyllic 
alteration normally associated with late-stage alteration above “cooling” porphyry stocks.

OPERATiONAL REviEw
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Operational Review (continued)

       

Figure 1: LEFT: Ring-shaped magnetic high anomaly, RIGHT: Central SP anomalism

• Confirmation of widespread phyllic alteration (quartz, sericite, pyrite), propylitic alteration (actinolite, epidote, chlorite) 
and potassic alteration (K-feldspar) throughout drill core and in outcrop at Chanape: Such alteration assemblages are 
characteristic of porphyry deposits.

• Confirmation, via verification sampling, of pervasive Au-Ag-Cu mineralisation in Breccia 8 to >100m depth:

Hole  from to interval  Au g/t Ag g/t Cu %

CH02 0 m 100 m 100 m  1.19 16.12 0.10

CH03 0 m 101 m 101 m  1.23 35.87 0.16 

CH04 0 m 116 m 116 m  1.43 24.59 0.23

   Average for three holes 1.29 24.16 0.17

• Identification of significant Au-Ag mineralisation at Breccia 10, from 6.4m to 196.2m, an interval of 189.8m: Within this 
189.8m interval 23 samples were taken with a combined section of 65.55m. Assay results include the following:

From (m) To (m) Length (m) Au g/t Ag g/t Cu % Pb% & 
Zn% Au Eq* g/t

17.10 20.30 3.20 1.30 5.66 0.04 0.79 1.49

21.90 24.40 2.50 0.92 5.31 0.04 0.24 1.16

25.45 27.90 2.45 2.04 14.45 0.10 0.17 2.52

29.70 32.45 2.75 1.52 4.32 0.04 0.11 1.69

33.95 36.95 3.00 2.73 30.8 0.16 0.10 3.58

39.25 42.30 3.05 2.46 22.7 0.26 0.20 3.35

47.80 51.00 3.20 1.36 3.67 0.01 0.34 1.58

55.75 58.80 3.05 1.62 5.34 0.02 0.14 1.79

90.40 93.10 2.70 1.78 16.45 0.26 0.07 2.50

107.70 110.35 2.65 4.89 12.75 0.07 0.14 5.28

Infill sampling and assaying to enable reporting of continuous intersections is planned to take place at the time of the upcoming 
drill program.
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Operational Review (continued)

• Confirmation and recognition of key porphyry indicators coincident at Chanape: 

* A breccia cluster covering an area 2kms x 1km, comprising numerous breccia bodies mapped at surface

* A coincident porphyry intrusion, logged in drill core and outcropping

* A large spontaneous potential (“SP”) anomaly generated from a 100km IP survey

* Multiple chargeability anomalies generated from a 100km IP survey

* A ring-shaped magnetic high anomaly generated from a 100km magnetic survey

* Widespread porphyry-style alteration, mapped at surface and logged through drill core

* Widespread high sulphide epithermal gold, silver, copper mineralisation, including pervasive disseminated and high 
grade styles of mineralisation, assayed in drill core rock-chip sampling

• Augmentation of effective social licence programs that has led to land access agreements and exploration approvals: An 
integral part of operations in Peru is social licence. Inca employs three full-time social workers to conduct ongoing social 
mapping programs within the Checa community of San Damián. 

Inca has already participated in a number of community awareness workshops, cultural and local government festivities.

     

        

      

Figure 2: Social licence: Listening to the community; Identifying and promoting community wellness and cultural heritage; and 
informing and involving the community in exploration/mining development TOP LINE: Inca social workers conducting social 

mapping surveys within the Checa community, MIDDLE LINE: Celebrating Checa heritage, BOTTOM LINE: Checa community members 
supervising track rehabilitation
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Operational Review (continued)

Sample 
Number From To Length Au g/t Ag g/t Cu % Pb% & 

Zn% Au eq g/t

1039 6.40 8.50 2.10 0.38 3.01 0.01 0.03 0.46

1040 8.50 10.70 2.20 0.42 6.55 0.06 0.04 0.64

1041 10.70 12.30 1.60 0.38 2.86 0.04 0.03 0.49

1042 17.10 20.30 3.20 1.30 5.66 0.04 0.79 1.49

1043 21.90 24.40 2.50 0.92 5.31 0.04 0.24 1.16

1044 25.45 27.90 2.45 2.04 14.45 0.10 0.17 2.52

1045 29.70 32.45 2.75 1.52 4.32 0.04 0.11 1.69

1046 33.95 36.95 3.00 2.73 30.8 0.16 0.10 3.58

1047 39.25 42.30 3.05 2.46 22.7 0.26 0.20 3.35

1049 47.80 51.00 3.20 1.36 3.67 0.01 0.34 1.58

1050 55.75 58.80 3.05 1.62 5.34 0.02 0.14 1.79

1051 67.55 70.25 2.70 0.17 1.29 0.00 0.06 0.17

1052 71.65 75.60 3.95 0.25 0.49 0.00 0.05 0.28

1053 80.50 83.75 3.25 0.15 0.54 0.00 0.02 0.17

1054 90.40 93.10 2.70 1.78 16.45 0.26 0.07 2.50

1055 93.10 95.55 2.45 0.54 4.58 0.05 0.02 0.71

1056 107.70 110.35 2.65 4.89 12.75 0.07 0.14 5.28

1057 128.50 131.40 2.90 0.13 2.68 0.01 0.03 0.20

1058 144.90 147.85 2.95 0.44 13.55 0.05 0.10 0.81

1059 148.70 151.90 3.20 0.63 7.58 0.02 0.16 0.87

1061 157.60 160.70 3.10 0.24 7.96 0.01 0.27 0.51

1062 176.75 179.90 3.15 0.06 3.26 0.01 0.03 0.14

1063 192.75 196.20 3.45 0.65 0.80 0.01 0.03 0.70

Table 1: Recently generated assay results from sampling Diamond Drill Hole CH12. The samples were taken as part of a verification 
sampling program of all previous drill holes.
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Operational Review (continued)

Figure 3: Schematic NE-SW cross-section between Breccia 8 
and Breccia 10. The lobate profile of both breccia complexes is 
not uncommon in magmatic hydrothermal breccias. 

CH02, CH03 and CH04 at Breccia 8 and CH12 at Breccia 10 
intersect magmatic hydrothermal breccias and welded 
andesitic tuff that are extensive altered including high degrees 
of sulphidisation and silicification.

Figure 4: Schematic N-S section through Breccia 8. The three holes into Breccia 8, CH02, CH03 and CH04, drilled in a 
radial pattern are projected on this single-section. 
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Operational Review (continued)

FuTuRE EXPLORATION
A 750m to 1,000m drilling program at Chanape is scheduled for the last quarter of 2012. The focus of this drilling campaign is 
to investigate the root-zones of gold-bearing Breccias 8 & 10 to understand the connection between magmatic hydrothermal 
brecciation and the underlying porphyry system. As well as undertaking standardised systematic drill sampling, hitherto absent 
in previous sampling programs, advanced-technology exploration orientation work, will include spectrometric analysis of 
alteration clays, which will measure geothermal gradients [“heat source”]. Locating a buried “heat source” is vital in finding 
hidden porphyry stocks and is a vital part of future drilling programs.

A follow-up drilling program commensurate with the progressive development of a porphyry system is planned for Chanape in 
2013. The objective of this program is to locate and define possible disseminated porphyry mineralisation.

TENuRE
The Chanape Project comprises a group of 20 mining concessions covering an area of 805 hectares. These concessions are the 
subject of the acquisition Mining Assignment Agreement (described below). The concessions are registered in Inca’s name on 
the INGEMMET internet titles data base (Peru equivalent of the WA Dept. Mines & Petroleum TENGRAPH).

Ten additional mining concessions have recently been granted to the Company. They cover nearly 10,000 hectares to the 
southwest of Chanape (also listed on INGEMMET).

LOCATION
Chanape is located approximately 90km east of Lima, in the Pierina Epithermal Gold porphyry belt. Chinalco's Toromocho 1.4Bt 
Cu-Ag-Mo porphyry mine development (2013) is only 30km NE of Chanape. Nyrstar's Coricancha Au-Ag-Zn-Pb mine is located 
15km NW of Chanape. There are numerous small-scale mines within the vicinity of Chanape. The Siberia, Germania, Millotingo and 
Pacococha mines are all located within 10km of Chanape. A small-scale mine was operated at Chanape in the 1930’s and 1980’s 
by Pacococha and Milpo.

   

 Figure 5: LEFT: Location of Chanape, RIGHT: Mining Concessions comprising the Chanape Project

 

Figure 6: Chinalco's Toromocho porphyry mine development where production starts in 2013; Left & RIGHT: Looking southeast, 
across the Toromocho deposit, in the direction of Chanape; Right: The new mining facility costing Chinalco US$2.25B Toromocho 

has 1.37Bt @ 0.51% Cu, 0.018% Mo and 7.06g/t Ag. The yellow dashed line is approximate outline of the proposed open pit.
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Operational Review (continued)

OWNERSHIP
The Company has a 5-year mining assignment agreement with the concession owner and has the right to acquire 100% of the 
project for expenditure commitment, cash/shares and royalty.

The principle terms and conditions of the 5-year mining assignment agreement are as follows:

• Payment of US$1,500,000 by US$25,000 per month for five years

• Payment of US$3,000,000 at the expiry of the five years

• The issue of US$500,000 of shares in Inca (one year after company listing)

• NSR of US$20 per oz Au eq

• Exploration commitment of US$3,600,000 over five years

• Inca has the right to purchase the project in full at any time

• Inca has a right to withdraw at any time (no separation penalty)

      

Figure 7: LEFT TO RIGHT: Propylitic (epidote-chlorite) alteration of tuffite in CH011, the dark vein (A) comprises magnetite and pyrite 
material; Albite alternation (B) of andesite tuff in CH007; Hydrothermal breccia from CH03 with silicified and partly epidotised 
tuffite clasts (C) and silica/chlorite matrix (D); Intermediate argillic alteration of Hydrothermal breccia with silicified tuffite and 

tourmaline/epidote matrix (E)

MOQUEGUA
BACKGROuND
The Moquegua Project comprises four separate prospects called Jose Alonso, Agua Blanco, Oscar Alberto and Virgen De Chapi. 
Moquegua is centred approximately 60km south east of Arequipa, within the Palaeocene Southern Peru Copper Porphyry Belt. 
The four prospects, defining a rectangular area of approximately 40km x 15km, are in close proximity to several substantial 
operating mines, including Freeport McMoran’s +3Bt Cerro Verde Mine and Southern Copper Corporation’s Cuajone porphyry 
mine and Metminco’s Los Calatos Deposit.

A B

C

D

E
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Operational Review (continued)

OWNERSHIP & TENuRE
The concessions that comprise the four Moquegua prospects are currently being transferred to Inca Minerals as per a Mining 
Option Agreement with the concession holder.

• Jose Alonso comprises two concessions and has a total area of 2,000ha. It is located in the district of Torata in the Moquegua 
Department. The closest town, Caimán, is three kilometres from the project. There are no cultivated lands within the project 
area.

• Agua Blanco comprises four concessions and has a total area of 2,000ha. It is located in the district of Quinistaquallas in the 
Moquegua Department. The closest town, Agua Blanco, is one kilometre from the project. There are no cultivated lands 
within the project area.

• Oscar Alberto comprises four concessions and has a total area of 1,400ha. It is located in the district of La Capilla in the 
Moquegua Department. The closest town, Caimán, is two kilometres from the project. Cultivated lands cover approximately 
10% of the project area.

• Virgen de Chapi comprises two concessions and has a total area of 1,600ha. It is located in the district of Puquina in the 
Moquegua Department. The closest town, Puquina, is three kilometres from the project. There are no cultivated lands 
within the project area. 

Figure 8: Location of the Moquegua prospects. Jose Alonso is adjacent to Metminco’s Los Calatos Cu-Mo deposit

FuTuRE EXPLORATION
Inca plans to commence exploration at Moquegua upon the full transfer of the mining concessions, expected to occur in the 
last quarter of 2012. The prospects are considered early stage exploration, but with known copper mineralisation and porphyry-
style alteration, walk-up targets already exist. The Company intends exploring the known occurrences of mineralisation and to 
undertake a broad-based geophysics and geochemical sampling program simultaneously at all prospects.

EXPLORATION AND MINING IN PERU
Peru plays an important part of the global minerals exploration and mining industry and is ranked fifth in the world in terms of 
committed exploration budgets (accounting for 5% of global exploration expenditure). Many of the major global mining houses 
are present and active in Peru, including; Aluminium Corporation of China Limited (Chinalco), Anglo American Inc., Barrick Gold 
Corporation, BHP-Billiton Limited, Freeport-McMoran Copper & Gold Inc., Gold Fields Limited, Newmont Mining Corporation, 
Nyrstar N.V., Rio Tinto Group and Southern Copper Group. These companies either currently operate mines, or are proceeding 
through feasibility stages of project development, or both.
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Operational Review (continued)

In Peru the mining sector represents 8% of the country's GDP, 72% of total exports (US$21B in 2010) and 50% of income tax revenue. 
Anticipated mining expenditure in Peru over the next decade is approximately worth US$50B. In terms of world production, Peru 
ranks first in global silver production, third in global zinc production, fourth in global copper production and sixth in terms of 
global gold production. In 2010 Peru produced 5.25 million ounces of gold. The country also produces significant quantities of 
molybdenum, lead, tin and tungsten.

Despite being a premier mining destination, Peru is considered under-explored. This status is among the principal reasons the 
Company sought and successfully acquired exploration projects in Peru.

PORPHYRY DEPOSITS
The term "porphyry deposit", describes large, disseminated, low-grade mineral occurrences typically hosted in rocks of 
intermediate to acid mineral composition with porphyritic texture.

A porphyritic rock, or “porphyry”, described igneous rocks with conspicuous phenocrysts (crystals) in a fine-grained groundmass.

Porphyry deposits may contain elevated levels of copper, gold, silver, molybdenum, tin and rare earth elements. Important by-
product elements include rhenium, tungsten, indium, platinum, palladium and selenium.

Porphyry deposits are the world's most important source of copper, molybdenum and rare earth elements, accounting for 50% 
to 60% of the world's supply of copper.

Porphyry deposits are broadly recognised on the basis of the relative abundances of economically important metals. Principal 
among the types of porphyries are:

• Porphyry Cu, Cu-Mo and Cu-Mo-Au deposits;

• Porphyry Cu-Au deposits; and

• Porphyry Au deposits.

Except for the differences in the relative concentrations of Cu, Au and Mo (among other metal concentrations), porphyry 
deposits share similar geological, geochemical and geophysical characteristics. Most occur in Mesozoic and Tertiary orogenic 
belts and most frequently on the Pacific plate margin. They show concentric or quasi-concentric zones of mineralisation and rock 
alteration; and they tend to be of a certain size and depth (between three and eight kilometres horizontal and vertical extent).

Porphyry deposits typically consist of disseminated (evenly spread and low grade) ore types and are most commonly mined as 
large scale, open cut operations. The ore typically contains grades of less than 1% copper and less than 1g/t gold.

Some of the largest mines in the world are porphyry deposits, including:

• The Escondida Cu porphyry mine in Chile, which is currently the largest copper mine in the world in terms of annual copper 
production;

• The Grasberg Au porphyry mine in Indonesia, which is currently the largest gold mine in the world in terms of annual gold 
production; and

• The Oyuu Tolgoi Cu-Au porphyry deposit in Mongolia, which is currently the largest undeveloped Cu-Au deposit in the world, 
containing approximately 81 billion pounds of copper and 46 million ounces of gold in measured, indicated and inferred 
resources.

Porphyry deposits tend to have a characteristic exploration signature, comprising broadly recognizable geological, geochemical 
and geophysical expressions.

Porphyry deposits occurring in the Andes Mountains (Chile, Argentina, Peru, Ecuador) often have a distinctive surface expression, 
making their recognition less difficult than if they were occurring in an ancient or highly vegetated terrain. This is a consequence 
of the high erosion rates normally attributed to the Andes and the sparse vegetation cover due to altitude. It is not unusual for 
porphyry rock types, porphyry-style alteration minerals and mineralisation to be fresh at surface. Such circumstance often leads 
to the coincidence of distinct and discrete geochemical and geophysical anomalism.

At the Company’s Chanape Gold-Silver-Copper Porphyry Project, just such a circumstance prevails - a very clear and characteristic 
porphyry-like signature - that comprises porphyry rock types, porphyry-style alteration minerals and mineralisation, geochemistry 
and geophysics.

PERu'S PORPHYRY BELT
Peru's Porphyry Belt extends along the entire length of Peru, paralleling the Pacific coast and roughly coinciding with the Andes 
Mountains. This important porphyry belt hosts dozens of operating mines and countless mineral deposits. The porphyry belt 
hosts many world-class mines with mineral resources well in excess of fifty billion tonnes of ore. Peru's porphyry belt can be 
divided into northern, central and southern parts and comprises six informal metallogenic provinces.
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Operational Review (continued)

Worldclass mines located within the Epithermal Au-Ag Belt within the Peru Porphyry Belt include: Yanacocha (+700Mt @ 0.8g/t 
Au for +50Moz of Au), the world’s second largest gold mine, Lagunas Norte (+650Mt @ 0.71g/t Au, 3.5g/t Ag for +14Moz of Au, 
24Moz Ag) and Pierina (+100Mt @ 2.0g/t Au for +9Moz of Au).

Figure 9: Peru's Porphyry Belt

WESTERN AUSTRALIA
PROJECT REVIEW
Inca conducted a thorough review of all its Western Australian projects immediately following the take-over with Condor Metals. 
The review included the revaluation of previous exploration results, a legal review and consideration of various value proposition 
strategies. 

The Company recognises that it possesses a valuable portfolio of projects in Western Australia. These include:

• Kalgoorlie NE Ni/base metals Project

• Dingo Range Ni/base metals/REE Project
• Southern Cross Au Project

• Kallona Mn/Fe Project

Key results of the review include:

• Wyo Well and Grey Dam Prospects: now part of the Kalgoorlie NE Project are highly prospective for Kambalda-style Ni 
mineralisation and VHMS base metals

• Dingo Range: highly prospective for Ni and base metals and now emerging as a possible rare earth element (REE) project

• Southern Cross: a strategic land-holding in prolific gold area at Southern Cross

• Kallona: strategic landholding with Mn and Fe potential

The Company intends developing the Western Australian projects through value propositions including target-orientated 
exploration, farm-out and/or joint ventures.
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Operational Review (continued)

KALGOORLIE NE
Kalgoorlie NE is an early to mid-stage exploration project comprising two separate prospects, referred to as Wyo Well and 
Grey Dam. The Company acquired interest in these projects from listed company Carrick Gold Limited (“Carrick”) as part of the 
company’s spin-out from Carrick in 2008. The project comprises four Exploration Licenses (three granted Exploration Licences 
and one Exploration Licences Application) covering a combined area of approximately 10km2. The three granted tenements are 
held in the name of Carrick, the application is in the name of the Company. 

The tenements are centred in the Eastern Gold Fields, approximately 100kms north east of Kalgoorlie, Western Australia. The 
nearest mine is the Silver Swan nickel mine (1,710,000t @ 5.7% Ni), approximately 60km to the project area.

Grey Dam

A nickel laterite deposit occurs at Grey Dam. It has a resource of 14.5Mt @ 0.7% Ni (0.4% Ni cut-off). 

Significant nickel sulphide mineralisation was identified below the Ni-laterite deposit. A subsequent ground VTEM geophysical 
survey conducted over the positive drilling area produced clear EM targets anomalies. Two primary sulphide target zones were 
identified. Conductive plate models were produced and drill holes have been designed to test these targets.

Grey Dam is prospective for Kambalda-style Ni mineralisation. Inca intends drill-testing the geophysical anomalies at Wyo Well. A 
program of 6 drill holes has been planned in 2013. 

Several phases of exploration have been conducted in the tenement area, including auger sampling, field mapping and rock chip 
sampling. The results are very positive.

Wyo Well 

Significant areas of copper and zinc soil anomalism (peak values of 590 ppm Cu and 2,099 ppm Zn) were identified in an auger 
sampling. In 2007, follow-up, including field mapping, rock chip sampling and TEM geophysics, has subsequently identified 
gossans and juxtaposed conductive bodies in a discrete area. 

Wyo Well is subsequently prospective for VHMS style Pb–Cu–Zn mineralisation. 

Inca intends drilling testing the geophysical anomalies at Wyo Well. A program of 6 drill holes has been planned in 2013. 

DINGO RANGE
Located approximately 200kms East of Leinster, Dingo Range is a large project covering a significant portion of the Dingo Range 
Greenstone Belt. The project comprises nine tenements covering an area of approximately 410km2. The tenements are held in the 
name of Inca and the Company owns all rights to the tenements except gold. The gold rights were sold to Carrick Gold Limited.

There have been several phases of previous exploration at Dingo Range, including approximately 2,000 auger soil samples and 
60 RAB drill holes. Best assay results from the latter include 13m @ 0.33% Ni, 3m @ 0.38% Ni, 2m @ 28.78% Fe and 2m @ 23.82 % Fe.

Inca has conducted field mapping and rock chip sampling programs at Dingo Range. Results of this and previous rock chip 
sampling, has culminated in the identification of the Johnny Walker prospect. Copper values up to 4% and REE value up to 0.6% 
Ce and 0.29% La have been returned.

Inca has undertaken an extensive review of previous exploration and has identified specific areas of interest at Dingo Range that 
warrant further exploration. The Johnnie Walker Prospect, for example, which contains historic Cu workings, now also has the 
potential for REE’s. 

SOuTHERN CROSS
Southern Cross comprises one Exploration Licence approximately 150km2 in area. It is located very near to the gold mining town 
of Southern Cross. In a review of previous gold exploration in and about the Southern Cross area, the Company discovered 
several anomalous zones worthy of follow-up. The Company owns all rights to minerals.

KALLONA 
The Kallona Project comprises a single large Exploration Licence approximately 100km2 in area. It is located near to the Balfour 
Downs manganese operations, approximately 300kms North East of Newman in the Eastern Pilbara region of northern Western 
Australia. The Kallona Creek project contains iron and manganese mineralisation, hosted within a volcanic and sedimentary 
sequence of the Hamersley group. 

The Company has previously completed VTEM and RC drilling programs on the project area. A 477 line kilometre airborne EM 
and magnetics survey was completed across the southern and central project area in October 2010. The survey was conducted 
to detect and delineate shallow to moderate depth conductors that may be direct indicators of manganese mineralisation. 
Secondary objectives included mapping of lithology and faults that may influence manganese concentrations. The survey 
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Operational Review (continued)

delineated a number of conductors and also an area of high magnetic intensity, this helped shape and model further RC drilling. 
Inca has completed a two phase RC drilling program that comprised 110 holes for a total of 5,775m. Drilling targeted the contact 
between the Marra Mamba Iron Formation and the Roy Hill Shale Member.

Widespread low-grade Mn mineralisation was identified in the drilling program. 

Ross Brown
Managing Director 

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results is based on information compiled by Mr Ross Brown, Managing Director, Inca 
Minerals Limited, who is a Member of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Brown is a full time employee of Inca Minerals Limited. 
He has sufficient experience, which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and types of deposits under consideration, and to the activity which has 
been undertaken, to qualify as a Competent Person as defined by the 2004 edition of the “Australia Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves”. Mr Brown consents to the report being issued in the form and context in which it appears.

Gold Equivalent (Au eq) calculation represents the total value of each metal, multiplied by a conversion factor (to obtain a standard price per unit), 
summed and expressed in equivalent gold grams per tonne (g/t). These results are exploration results only and no allowance is made for recovery 
losses that may occur should mining take place. However, it is the Company’s opinion that the elements included in this calculation (Au, Ag, Cu, Pb, 
Zn) have a reasonable potential to be recovered as evidenced in previous mining in the area and similar multi-commodity natured mines and deposit-
types in the world. The price assumptions are: gold: US$1,735/oz; silver: US$33.68/oz; copper US$3.60/lb, lead US$0.95/lb and zinc US$0.88/lb.
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The Directors of Inca Minerals Limited (‘the Company’) present their financial report on the Company and its controlled entities 
for the year ended 30 June 2012.

DIRECTORS
The names of directors in office at any time during or since the end of the financial year are listed hereunder.  Directors were in 
office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

• Justin Walawski, Chairman and Company Secretary (appointed on 21 May 2012)

• Ross Brown, Executive Director (appointed on 8 March 2012)

• Laurence Ziatas, Non-Executive Director (appointed on 8 March 2012)

• Gareth Lloyd, Non-Executive Director (appointed on 14 September 2012)

• Laurence Freedman AM, Non-Executive Chairman (resigned 18 May 2012)

• Ross Gillon, Non-Executive Director (resigned 18 May 2012)

• Robert Schuitema, Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary (resigned 18 May 2012)

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS

JuSTIN WALAWSKI
Chairman and Company Secretary (appointed on 21 May 2012)

As at 30 June 2012, and in addition to his position with Inca, Dr Walawski was also a non-executive director and Chair of the 
Finance & Audit Committee for Pindan College Limited (a public company owned by BHP Billiton, Rio Tinto, Woodside Petroleum 
and Chevron) and a facilitator for the AICD’s Company Directors course in areas of financial literacy and financial strategy.  Dr 
Justin Walawski has previously held positions on the ASX’s Supervisory Liaison Committee, as Chairman, Deputy Chairman and 
Chief Executive of the North West Iron Ore Alliance, Chief Executive of the Association of Mining & Exploration Companies, 
Chairman of Special Olympics Australia (WA) and Director of CPA Australia (WA). He is also a former member of the Federal 
Australian Government’s Mineral Exploration Action Implementation Committee and the West Australian Government’s State 
Tax Reference Committee. 

ROSS BROWN
Managing Director (appointed on 8 March 2012)

A geologist by profession, Mr Brown has had over 26 years’ experience in mineral exploration in Australia, Asia, Africa and South 
America and he has worked in a broad range of commodities, including gold, base metals, uranium, phosphate and diamonds. Mr 
Brown has a rare ability in recognising the commercial potential of exploration projects and geological process, and has a proven 
track record of bringing technical-based exploration concepts and projects to market.

In 2009 Mr Brown co-founded the gold/copper exploration company, Mystic Sands Pty Ltd, which was established for the 
purposes of conducting exploration in Chile, South America. With the assistance of other technical management Mr Brown was 
responsible for the composition of the initial project portfolio. Mystic Sands was purchased by Australian-listed explorer White 
Star Minerals. As part of the transaction, Sandfire Resources NL became a shareholder of Whinnen as consideration for providing 
technical services to the company.

In 2006 Mr Brown developed an innovative exploration model for “Langer Heinrich-style” uranium mineralisation that was used 
as a basis for global project acquisitions in 2006 and 2007. These projects were packaged into Oklo Uranium Limited, which 
completed a successful $8M IPO on the Australian Stock Exchange in May 2007.

In 2001 Mr Brown created the diamond company, Central Kimberley Diamonds (“CKD”), which was listed on the German stock 
exchange, raising $3.9M. The company enjoyed several technical and milestone successes including the discovery of a large 
diamond-bearing gravel deposit and the production of diamonds from its own mine. In 2011 CKD was bought by an Australian 
exploration company who intends listing on AIM in London.

Mr Brown turned his attention to Peru in 2009 and through his network of Peruvian-based businessmen and geologists assessed 
the potential of more than a hundred projects. Ross immediately recognised the great potential of mineral discovery in that 
country and recognised the potential of Inca’s lead project, Chanape, from being a known polymetallic deposit to being that of 
a potentially large gold-silver-copper porphyry deposit.

Mr Brown was the co-founder and Managing Director of Urcaguary Ltd, the Company’s fully owned subsidiary (formerly called 
Inca Minerals Ltd) and he became the Company’s Managing Director after its takeover of Urcaguary.

Mr Brown has been a member of AusIMM since 1988, and is also a member of GSA, SEG and AICD.

diRECTORS’ REPORT
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LAuRENCE ZIATAS
Non-executive Director (appointed on 8 March 2012)

Mr Ziatas commenced his working life as a lawyer and has had over 31 years’ experience in a diversity of businesses as legal and 
business adviser, principal, Chairman, CEO and Director. He has been involved in the creation, project generation, fundraising 
and/or start-up and management, of numerous private and publicly listed ASX mineral exploration companies both in Australia 
and overseas. 

Mr Ziatas brings to the Company his legal expertise and business experience including over two decades of small cap exploration 
company experience, and has completed an Executive MBA (UWA 2005) and a Master of Mediation and Conflict Resolution 
(UniSA 2010), and has an international business and conflict management and resolution skill set. Mr Ziatas has specialised and 
refined knowledge of Social License and stakeholder management, and a working knowledge and skill set in managing cultural 
diversity and sustainability issues. 

Mr Ziatas was the co-founder and founding Chairman of Urcaguary Ltd, the Company’s fully owned subsidiary (formerly called 
Inca Minerals Ltd) and was involved in the acquisition and promotion of the Company’s portfolio of projects in Peru, as well as all 
aspects of the successful completion of the subsequent corporate take-over. 

GARETH LLOYD
Non-executive Director (appointed 14 September 2012)

Mr Lloyd has over 30 years’ experience with mining and exploration companies and brings considerable technical, commercial 
and capital raising expertise to the Company.  A mining engineer by training, he has operating experience in gold, base metals 
and coal operations in Australia, South Africa and the United Kingdom.  

Mr Lloyd is a part owner of the Element group, a Perth-based boutique advisory and funds management group focused on 
the resources sector through which Mr Lloyd provides strategic advice and fund raising services to both listed and unlisted 
companies (predominantly mining and exploration companies) using both equity and mezzanine instruments.

Prior to establishing Element (in 2008), Mr Lloyd was an Associate Director at the Rothschild Group where he helped establish 
the Golden Arrow Funds I and II, the latter fund becoming  the ASX-listed LinQ Resources Fund.  At the time of his departure 
from LinQ, the fund was one of Australia’s largest listed resource funds with funds under management of over $475m.  He has 
held a number of senior positions at Australian resource-focused stockbroking firms including Research Director at Hartleys and 
Resources Analyst at Eyres Reed.

LAuRENCE FREEDMAN AM
Non-Executive Chairman (appointed 18 October 2010, Resigned 18 May 2012)

Mr Freedman’s history with resource companies began as an analyst and later as a director of group companies with the Gold 
Fields Group. He later joined BT Australia as Manager Investments. In 1980, he resigned from BT to found the Equitilink Group.  
In 2000, he sold the Equitilink Group and has managed his private investment portfolio in shares, property and fixed income. Mr 
Freedman is Chairman of the Freedman Foundation.

Mr Freedman has held the following directorships of other public companies within the last three years:

• Carrick Gold Limited 

• Phoslock Water Solutions Limited

ROSS GILLON 
Non-Executive Director (Appointed 12 May 2010 - Resigned 18 May 2012)

Mr Gillon, principal of the legal firm of Lawton Gillon, has been in legal practice for 30 years and has been legal advisor for Inca 
Minerals Limited since its listing in 2008. He has been a director of a number of public companies.

Mr Gillon has held the following directorships of other public companies within the last three years:

• Carrick Gold Limited

• Millennium Minerals Limited

• Red River Resources Limited
• Telezon Limited

• Terrain Minerals Limited

directors’ report (continued)
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ROBERT SCHuITEMA   
Director & Company Secretary (Appointed Director 9 September 2010 - Resigned 18 May 2012; Appointed Company Secretary 17 
January 2011 – Resigned 18 May 2012)

Mr Schuitema is a Chartered Accountant, a member of the NZ Institute of Investment Analysts and is a director and company 
secretary of Phoslock Water Solutions Ltd and Carrick Gold Ltd.  Mr Schuitema worked for 14 years with Chase Manhattan Bank 
& latterly JP Morgan Chase as Head of Mining & Metals for Asia Pacific. As an investment banker Mr Schuitema was actively 
involved in raising both debt (project finance, bank loans and long term bonds) and equity (including hybrids) and providing M&A 
advise for resource companies both in Australia and internationally. 

Mr Schuitema has held the following directorships of other public companies within the last three years:

• Carrick Gold Limited

• Phoslock Water Solutions Limited

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company’s principal activities during the year were divided between conducting exploration and evaluation work on existing 
tenements and seeking out additional exploration tenements.  Inca Minerals Limited is a Western Australian and Peruvian 
focused exploration company whose aims are to find, develop and/or demonstrate the potential of projects to others. Inca will 
continue to seek opportunities for acquiring or farming in to new tenements, and to divest or joint venture where there is benefit 
to shareholders. 

OPERATING RESULTS 
The operating loss after income tax of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2012 was $3,891,050 (2011: loss of $526,984).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
During the year the Company completed a takeover of Urcaguary Limited (formerly Inca Minerals Limited) – an unlisted public 
company with prospective gold, silver, copper and molybdenum porphyry projects in Peru.  Shortly thereafter, the Company 
changed its name from Condor Metals Limited (ASX: CNK) to Inca Minerals Limited (ASX: ICG).  

The Inca Board of Directors underwent considerable change during the year.  In February 2012 Mr Ross Brown joined the 
Company as its Managing Director and Mr Laurence Ziatas joined the Company as a non-executive director.  In May 2012 Mr Ross 
Gillon, Mr Robert Schuitema and Mr Laurence Freedman resigned from the Board and Dr Justin Walawski joined the Inca Board 
as Chairman and Company Secretary.

For the vast majority of the year (and prior to the acquisition of Urcaguary Limited and that company’s Peruvian projects) the 
Company’s focus was largely on its Kallona iron and manganese project in the East Pilbara.   However much of the June 2012 
quarter saw the Company integrating and focusing on the Company’s Peruvian projects and in particular, the Company’s flagship 
project – Chanape.

FINANCIAL POSITION
The net assets of the Company were $9,573,705 as at 30 June 2012 (2011: $6,516,857).

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company occurred during the financial period.

DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED
The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and no dividends have been paid or declared since the start of the 
financial period.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial period which significantly affected or may significantly 
affect the operations of the Company or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years, other than that noted below.

On the 14th and 15th of February 2012, the Company advised the Market of a claim against the Company’s fully owned subsidiary 
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by Trident Capital Pty Ltd (“Trident”). The Company further advised to the Market on 12 September 2012 that its subsidiary had, 
on that date, been served with a Writ of Summons by Trident. The Company’s position, based on independent legal advice, 
remains unchanged in that the action is without any merit and will be vigorously defended.

On 16 August 2012, the Company announced to the market that it had raised $1.1 million through the placement of 64.7 million 
fully paid ordinary shares to sophisticated investors at $0.017 per share (“Placement”). The Placement was managed by Element 
Capital and will occur in two tranches (Tranche 1 and Tranche 2). Tranche 1 shares were issued within Inca’s 15% placement 
capacity, pursuant to the ASX Listing Rules, with settlement on 23 August 2012. Tranche 2 shares will be issued, subject to 
shareholder approval, 7 days after approval is obtained at a General Meeting of shareholders scheduled for 28 September 2012.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS
The Company expects to maintain the present status and level of operation and hence there are no likely unwarranted 
developments in the entity’s operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
The Company is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect of its exploration activities.

The Company ensures the appropriate standard of environmental care is achieved and, in doing so, that it is aware of and is 
in compliance with all environmental legislation.  The directors of the Company are not aware of any breach of environmental 
legislation for the year.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY
No person has applied for leave of the Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings 
to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those 
proceedings. The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND INSURANCE PREMIUMS
The consolidated entity has paid premiums to insure the directors against liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in 
defending legal proceedings arising from their conduct while acting in the capacity of director of the consolidated entity, other 
than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the consolidated entity. 

OPTIONS
At the date of this report, there were no unissued ordinary shares of Inca Minerals Limited under option. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks and opportunities are identified in a timely manner and that activities are aligned 
with the risks and opportunities identified by the Board.

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for directors and executives of the Company.

REMuNERATION POLICY
The remuneration policy of Inca Minerals Limited aligns director and executive objectives with shareholder and business 
objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and, where the board believes it appropriate, may also include specific 
long-term incentives based on key performance areas affecting the Company’s ability to attract and retain the best executives 
and directors to run and manage the Company.

The remuneration policy setting out the terms and conditions for the executive directors and other senior executives was 
developed by the Board.  All executives receive a base salary (which is based on factors such as ability and experience). The 
Board reviews executive packages annually by reference to the economic entity’s performance, executive performance, and 
comparable information from industry sectors and other listed companies in similar industries.  The performance of the executive 
directors is measured against the objective of promoting growth in shareholder value.
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The Board may exercise discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses, and options.  The policy is designed to attract 
the highest calibre of executives and reward them for performance that results in long-term growth in shareholder wealth. 
Executives may, where the board believes it appropriate, participate in employee share and option arrangements.

The board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, commitment and 
responsibilities.  The Board determines payments to the non-executive directors and reviews their remuneration annually based 
on market practice, duties and accountability.  Independent external advice is sought when required.  The maximum aggregate 
amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors is subject to approval by shareholders in general meeting (currently 
$240,000 per annum).

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL SERVICE AGREEMENTS
Details of the key conditions of service agreements for key management personnel are as follows:

Commencement
Date

Notice Period Base 
Salary Base Salary

Termination
Payments
Provided *

Ross Brown 1 March 2012 6 months $200,000 None

Justin Walawski 21 May 2012 3 months $5,400 per 
month None

* other than statutory entitlements.

There are no other agreements with key management personnel.

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMuNERATION

(a) Key management personnel compensation

2012 Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits

Other

$

Total

$Name

Cash salary 
and fees

$

Non-
monetary 
benefits

$

Super-
annuation

$

Retirement 
benefits

$

Directors
Justin Walawski*** 23,992 - - - - 23,992

Ross Brown 67,097 - 6,039 - - 73,136

Laurence Ziatas 24,692 - 682 - - 25,374

Laurence Freedman* 45,834 - 4,125 - - 49,959

Ross Gillon* 45,834 - 4,125 - - 49,959

Robert Schuitema* 92,834 - 8,355 - - 101,189

Executives
John McKinstry ** - - - - - -

Wade Johnson ** - - - - - -

Totals 300,283 - 23,326 - - 323,609

* Resigned during the year.

** Services were provided to the Company via the individual’s employment with Carrick Gold Limited (“Carrick”). The Company was then charged for 
the individuals’ services by Carrick. During the financial year ended 30 June 2012, a total amount of $203,144 was paid by the Company to Carrick for 
administrative services provided by Carrick, which also included the amounts charged for Mr McKinstry and Mr Johnson.

*** Includes payments made for consultancy fees in March and April 2012 prior to Dr Walawski becoming a Director and Company Secretary of Inca 
Minerals Ltd, as well as payments made post Dr Walawski’s appointment as Director and Company Secretary.
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2012 Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits

Other

$

Total

$Name

Cash salary 
and fees

$

Non-
monetary 
benefits

$

Super-
annuation

$

Retirement 
benefits

$

Directors
Elaine Carr * 19,230 - 1,731 - - 20,961

Brian Martin * 37,500 - 3,375 - 25,000 65,875

Ian Burston * 8,424 - - - - 8,424

Laurence Freedman 43,342 - 3,901 - - 47,243

Ross Gillon 50,000 - - - - 50,000

Robert Schuitema 47,853 - 4,307 - - 52,160

Executives
Bevan Jaggard * 20,000 - - - - 20,000

John McKinstry 50,010 66,331 - - - 116,341

Wade Johnson 25,000 23,945 - - - 48,945

Totals 301,359 90,276 13,314 - 25,000 429,949

* resigned during the year.

- END OF REMUNERATION REPORT -

DIRECTORS’ RELEVANT INTERESTS
The relevant interest of each director in the capital of the company at the date of this report is as follows:

Director No of Ordinary Shares
No of Options over 

Ordinary Shares

Justin Walawski 612,000 -

Ross Brown 23,000,000 -

Laurence Ziatas 23,000,000 -

Gareth Lloyd 6,900,000 -

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
During the financial period, 10 meetings of directors were held.  There were 2 audit committee meetings held during the period.  
Attendances by each director during the period were as follows:-

Board Meetings Audit Committee

Number of meetings 
eligible to attend Number attended

Number of meetings 
eligible to attend

Number 
attended

Justin Walawski* 2 2 - -

Ross Brown* 4 4 - -

Laurence Ziatas* 4 4 - -

Laurence Freedman 8 8 2 1

Ross Gillon 8 8 2 2

Robert Schuitema 8 8 2 2

* not a member of relevant committee
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NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible with the general standard 
of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the services disclosed below 
did not compromise the external auditor’s independence for the following reasons:

• all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the audit committee prior to commencement to ensure they do not 
adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

• the nature of the services provided does not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence in 
accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board.

No non-audit services were provided by the entity’s auditor, RSM Bird Cameron Partners, as shown at Note 15.  

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
We have obtained an Auditor’s Independence Declaration.  Please refer to “Auditor’s Independence Declaration” included on 
page 65 of the financial statements.

The Report of Directors, incorporating the Remuneration Report, is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of 
Directors.

Justin Walawski
Director

Dated at Perth this 28th day of September 2012
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The Board of Directors of Inca Minerals Limited (Inca) is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company. The Board 
guides and monitors the business and affairs of Inca on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they 
are accountable.

The following formalises the main corporate governance practices in force throughout the financial year to ensure the Board is 
well equipped to discharge its responsibilities.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
The composition of the Board shall be determined in accordance with the following principles and guidelines:

• The Board will consist of at least 3 Directors with that number increasing if additional expertise is considered desirable.

• At least 50% of the Board members should be Non- Executive Directors.

• The Chairman of the Board should be a Non-Executive Director.

• Directors comprising the Board should possess a mix of qualifications, expertise and experience.

• All available information in connection with items to be discussed at a meeting of the Board shall be provided to each 
Director prior to that meeting.

The Board will review its composition on an annual basis to ensure an appropriate and desirable mix of expertise and experience. 
Where a vacancy exists for whatever reason, or where the Board will benefit from the services of a new Director with particular 
expertise, the Board will select appropriate candidates with relevant qualifications, skills and experience. External advisers may 
be used to assist in such a process. The Board will then appoint the most suitable candidate, who must stand for election at the 
next annual general meeting of shareholders.

The primary responsibilities of the Board include:

• The establishment of the long term goals of the Company and strategic plans to achieve those goals.

• The review and adoption of annual budgets for the financial performance of the Company and monitoring those results on 
a quarterly basis. This includes the establishment and monitoring of key performance indicators (both financial and non-
financial) for all significant business processes.

• Ensuring the Company has implemented adequate systems of internal control together with appropriate monitoring of 
compliance activities.

• The approval of the annual and half-year financial reports.

The terms and conditions of the appointment and retirement of Directors will be set out in a letter of appointment which covers 
remuneration, expectations, terms, the procedures for dealing with conflicts of interest and the availability of independent 
professional advice.

The performance of all Directors will be reviewed by the Chairman each year.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE
Each Director will have the right to seek independent professional advice on matters pertaining to the effective execution of 
their duty and obligations as a Director of Inca at the Company’s expense.

The prior approval of the Chairman will be required, which will not be unreasonably withheld.

REMUNERATION
The Board will review the remuneration packages and policies applicable to the Directors and Senior Executives on an annual 
basis. Remuneration levels will be competitively set to attract the most qualified and experienced Directors and Senior Executives.

Where necessary the Board will obtain independent advice on the appropriateness of remuneration packages. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Inca does not maintain a separate Audit Committee - the Board in its entirety assumes full responsibility for those functions 
which might otherwise be performed by a separate Audit Committee.  Those responsibilities include:

• Monitoring compliance with regulatory requirements.

• Improving the quality of the accounting function.

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE STATEmENT
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• Reviewing external audit reports to ensure that where major deficiencies or breakdowns in controls or procedures have 
been identified appropriate and prompt remedial action is taken by management.

• Liaising with the external auditors and ensuring that the annual audit and half-year review are conducted in an effective 
manner.

• Reviewing the performance of the external auditors on an annual basis.

At the invitation of the Board, Board meetings may also be attended by the external auditors and particularly where it may give 
the Board additional assurance regarding the quality and reliability of financial information prepared for use by the Board in 
determining the matters for inclusion in the financial statements.  Nomination of external auditors will be at the discretion of 
the Board.

BUSINESS RISK
The Board will monitor and receive advice on areas of operational and financial risk, and consider strategies for appropriate risk 
management arrangements.

Specific areas of risk identified initially and regularly considered at Board Meetings include risks associated with business and 
investment, new and rapidly evolving markets, technological change, competition and business and strategic alliances, the 
environment and continuous disclosure obligations.

ETHICAL STANDARDS
The Board’s policy is for the Directors and senior management to conduct themselves with the highest ethical standards. All 
Directors and employees will be expected to act with integrity and objectivity, striving at all times to enhance the reputation and 
performance of the Company.

TRADING IN INCA MINERALS LIMITED SECURITIES
The Board’s policy with regard to trading in the Company’s securities is that prior to any transaction, Directors and officers must 
obtain clearance from the Chairman to ensure that no transactions are made where the Director or officer is in possession of 
price sensitive information.

AUTHORITY LIMITS
The Board shall annually review the level of authority limits for the Managing Director and senior management. That review shall 
coincide with the approval of the annual budgets.

CONFIDENTIALITY
The Board members are required to ensure that all Company business is kept confidential by all Directors and staff.

DEALING WITH CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
A potential conflict of interest may arise from time to time.  All Directors are required to declare whether an actual or potential 
conflict of interest may exist for them at the commencement of each Board meeting.

If a conflict or potential conflict of interest arises at any time, full disclosure should be made to the Board as soon as the Director 
becomes aware of the conflict or potential conflict. The Board shall manage the conflict in such a way that the interests of the 
Company as a whole are safeguarded.

A conflict of interest may arise:

• When the private or other business interests of Directors and officers conflict directly or indirectly with  their obligations to 
the Company; or

• When benefits (including gifts or entertainment) are received from a person doing business which could be seen by others 
as creating an obligation to someone other than the Company.

Directors and officers shall not act in a way which may cause others to question their loyalty to the Company.
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ASX PRINCIPLE STATuS REFERENCE/COMMENT
Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

1.1 Formalise and disclose the functions reserved to the 
board and those delegated to management.

A The Company has formalised and disclosed the functions 
reserved to the Board and those delegated to management. 
The Company has a small Board consisting of four Directors 
and three are Non-Executive.

The full Board meets every 4-6 weeks. In addition, strategy 
meetings and any extraordinary meetings are held at such 
other times as may be necessary.

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value

2.1 A majority of board members should be 
independent directors.

NA While three of the four Directors are Non-Executives all current 
Directors hold shares in Inca either directly or beneficially 
meaning they are not independent. As shareholders, the 
Directors interests are directly aligned with the interests of 
all other shareholders in the decisions and judgements the 
Directors make.

2.2 The chairperson should be an independent director. NA The Company has a Non-Executive Chairman who, as 
a shareholder and the Company Secretary, cannot be 
considered independent.  As a shareholder in the Company, 
this Director’s interests are directly aligned with the interests 
of all other shareholders.  This Director brings the desired level 
of expertise and experience to his role as both Chairperson 
and Company Secretary and in so doing, also ensures an 
efficient use of the Company’s resources. 

2.3 The roles of chairperson and chief executive officer 
should not be exercised by the same individual.

A The positions of Chairman and Managing Director are held by 
two different individuals.

2.4 The board should establish a nomination 
committee.

NA The Company has a small Board consisting of three Non-
Executive Directors and the Managing Director.  The 
Board considers it desirable to use the full complement of 
knowledge, expertise and experience of all its Directors 
in making decisions and performing the functions usually 
associated with a nomination committee.

2.5 The company should disclose the process for 
evaluating the performance of the board.

A The performance of all Directors will be reviewed by the 
Chairman each year.

2.6 Provide the information indicated in Guide to 
reporting on Principle 2.

A The skills and experience of Directors are set out in the  
Company’s Annual Report and on its website.

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making

3.1 Establish a code of conduct to guide the directors, 
the chief executive officer (or equivalent), the chief 
financial officer (or equivalent) and any other key 
executives as to:

3.1.1  the practices necessary to maintain 
confidence in the company’s integrity.

3.1.2 the responsibility and accountability of 
individuals for reporting or investigating reports of 
unethical practices.

A The Company has a formal Code of Conduct (Code) and all 
Directors employees and contractors are expected to comply 
with the Code.  Under the Code, Directors, employees and 
contractors are expected to act with the utmost integrity 
and objectivity in their dealings with other parties, striving at 
all times to enhance the reputation and performance of the 
Company. The Board reviews existing procedures over time 
to ensure they are adequate and effective.

27

FiNANCiAL REPORT 2012



CORPORATE GOvERNANCE STATEmENT (continued)

ASX PRINCIPLE STATuS REFERENCE/COMMENT
Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making (ctd)

3.2 Establish a diversity policy with measurable objectives and 
monitor through an annual assessment process.

A The Company has three employees (2 male, 1 female)  
as at the date of this Report.  The Board is committed 
to diversity of its employees as Inca grows in size and  
employment base.

3.3 Disclose the policy and measurable objectives  
concerning gender diversity.

A The Company intends to take gender diversity into 
consideration as it grows in size and employment 
base.

3.4 The Company should disclose in the annual report the 
proportion of women employed in the organisation, in senior 
roles and on the Board.

A One third of the Company’s current employees are  
female and at this stage, the Board has no female  
Directors.

3.5 Provide the information indicated in guide to  
reporting on Principle 3.

A Website and annual report.

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

4.1 The board should establish an audit committee. NA The Company has a small Board consisting of three 
Non-Executive Directors and the Managing Director.  
At this stage, the Board considers it desirable to use 
the full complement of knowledge, expertise and 
experience of all its Directors in making decisions and 
performing the functions normally attributed to an 
audit committee.

4.2 Structure the audit committee so that it consist of:

• Only Non-Executive Directors.

• A majority of independent directors.

• An independent chairperson who is not the 
chairperson of the Board.

• At least three members.

NA Refer to 4.1 above.  Three of the four Directors are 
Non-Executive Directors and none can be considered 
independent for reasons discussed at 2.1.  While all 
Directors are financially literate, the Chairman holds 
three tertiary qualifications in accounting/auditing 
including a PhD and is a Fellow of CPA Australia.  The 
Company considers it desirable that the Chairman of 
the Board should also chair the Board’s deliberations 
on matters pertaining to functions which could be 
delegated to an audit committee.

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter. NA Refer to 4.1 above.  The Board in its entirety assumes 
responsibility for the decisions and performing the 
functions normally attributed to an audit committee.  

4.4 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on 
Principle 4.

A Annual Report.

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1  Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and 
to ensure accountability at a senior management level for that 
compliance.

A The Board is acutely aware of the Company’s 
continuous disclosure responsibilities and has formal 
procedures in place to ensure the Company fully 
meets its responsibilities.  The Company has internal 
procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance 
as to the effectiveness and efficiency of operations, 
the reliability of financial reporting and compliance 
with relevant laws and regulations.

5.2 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on 
Principle 5.

A The Company publishes and releases the ASX quarterly 
reports on operations and cash flow as well as annual 
and half-yearly results.

28

FiNANCiAL REPORT 2012



CORPORATE GOvERNANCE STATEmENT (continued)

ASX PRINCIPLE STATuS REFERENCE/COMMENT
Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders

6.1 Design and disclose a communications strategy to 
promote effectiveness communication with shareholders and 
encourage effective participation at general meetings.

A The Company has formal procedures in place to 
ensure full compliance with its continuous disclosure 
requirements and that all shareholders are kept 
informed of material developments affecting the 
Company.  

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general 
meetings and participate in discussion on resolutions, 
exercise their right to vote or lodge their vote by 
proxy.

6.2 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on 
Principle 6.

A The Company ensures regular, timely and effective 
communication with shareholders through the 
Company’s website, specific ASX Releases and 
Quarterly/Half Yearly/ Annual Reports.

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk

7.1 The board or appropriate board committee should establish 
policies on risk oversight and management.

A The Board recognises its responsibility for identifying 
areas of significant business risk and ensures policies 
and procedures are in place to manage these risks.

7.2 The Board should require management to design and 
implement the risk management and internal control system.

A The Board has ensured management has designed 
and implemented a risk management control system 
and culture which is encouraged amongst employees 
and contractors.  Additionally the Board regularly 
reviews risks and the control mechanisms in place at 
its Board meetings.  Areas of risk which are regularly 
considered include:

• Performance and funding of commercial 
activities.

• Budget control and asset protection.

• Sovereign risk.

• Compliance with government laws and 
regulations.

• Compliance with community standards and 
expectations.

• Safety and the environment.

• Continuous disclosure responsibilities.

7.3 The board should disclose that it has received assurance 
from the CEO/CFO in accordance with section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

A The Company has received assurance from the CEO / 
CFO in accordance with Sec 295A of the Corporations 
Act 2001 and this is disclosed in the Company’s 
Financial Report and its Annual Report. 

7.4 Provide information indicated in Guide to reporting on 
Principle 7.

A The Company website, ASX Releases, management 
reports, Financial Report and Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOvERNANCE STATEmENT (continued)

ASX PRINCIPLE STATuS REFERENCE/COMMENT
Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly

8.1 The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee. NA The Company has a small Board consisting of three Non-
Executive Directors and the Managing Director.  At this 
stage, the Board considers it desirable to use the full 
complement of knowledge, expertise and experience 
of all its Directors in making decisions and performing 
the functions normally attributed to a remuneration 
committee. 

Where appropriate, the Board will engage external 
advisors to assist with the Board’s decisions on 
remuneration of both Directors and senior executives.

8.2 The Remuneration Committee should be structured such 
that it:

i. Contains majority of independent directors.

ii. Is chaired by an independent director.

iii. Has at least three members

NA Refer 8.1 above.  Three of the four Directors are Non-
Executive Directors and none can be considered 
independent for reasons discussed at 2.1.

8.3 Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ 
remuneration from that of executives.

A The company discloses remuneration related 
information in its Financial Report and its Annual Report 
to shareholders in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001.

Remuneration levels are determined by the Board on 
an individual basis, the size of the company making 
individual assessment more appropriate than formal 
remuneration policies.

 The policy disclosed in the remuneration report (within 
the Financial Report and Annual Report) distinguishes 
between Non-Executive Directors and Executive 
Directors.

8.4 Provide information indicated in Guide to reporting on 
Principle 8.

A The Financial Report and Annual Report.

COMMUNITY STANDARDS
Inca Minerals Limited understands that the development of successful resource projects demands a proactive recognition of 
the breadth of stakeholder interest in these projects.  The Company is committed to the protection of the environment and to 
ensure the safety and health of its employees, customers, contractors and communities where it operates and in all its business 
activities.  The Company is dedicated to compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and to work with government, 
communities and other stakeholders in policy development and implementation.

COMMUNITY - PERU
The Company conducts its operations in Peru where community involvement is necessitated in a regulatory and operational 
capacity. Right of access and right to conduct prescribed exploration and mining programs are provided by communities whose 
lands are affected.  The Company has engaged the services of FOM PER SAC ("FOMPER") to conduct community programs and 
assist the Company in managing its relationship with the community. FOMPER is a Lima-based consulting firm that has a track-
record of producing mutually positive community outcomes. Members of the FOMPER team speak local Andean dialects and are 
themselves considered “local”.  
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CORPORATE GOvERNANCE STATEmENT (continued)

The overarching objective of the Company’s current Community Relations Plan in Peru is to facilitate community approval of the 
Company's 2012/2013 exploration program.  This includes the inherent objectives of: 

• Obtaining access approval to community lands.

• Obtaining approval for prescribed exploration activities.

• Establishing Company/community rapport.

• Establishing consensus as to community upliftment programs.

• Establishing consensus as to community engagement programs.

The Company’s approach to Community programs is to be genuine; to be personal; to treat the community as you would treat 
a valued partner.  The Company recognises that it is a foreign company wishing to conduct exploration on lands owned by a 
community. The core relationship must be a partnership and both parties must benefit.

TRADITIONAL OWNERS – AUSTRALIAN TENEMENTS
Inca has engaged the assistance of Aboriginal parties representing the traditional owners of the land on which it operates.  An 
extensive Cultural Heritage Management Plan will be developed in consultation with the traditional owners as the Company’s 
various projects are developed toward production.  Inca commits to ongoing communication and consultation with traditional 
owners in all areas where it operates.

LANDHOLDERS
Inca has a commitment to work constructively and proactively with landholders. The Company’s aim is to minimise the impact on 
their livelihood and lifestyle.  Inca will continue to conduct its operations with the intention of developing long and collaborative 
relationships with landholders.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
Inca undertakes its operations with the philosophy that occupational health and safety is paramount. The Company aims to 
continually improve its processes and performances.  Promoting and ensuring a culture in which all employees and contractors 
fulfil their individual responsibilities in implementing the Health and Safety policy and meeting the regulatory standards remains 
a key focus.

- END OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT - 
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Note
2012

$
2011

$

Revenue 2 133,604 202,128

Management and directors’ fees (248,235) (309,749)

Wages and salaries (350,828) (130,842)

Administrative expenses (534,770) (103,236)

Advertising and promotional costs (72,783) (83,795)

Professional fees (510,612) (65,802)

Listing and share registry expenses (53,564) (33,074)

Depreciation (23,049) (2,614)

Exploration and  evaluation expenditure written off (2,230,813) -

Loss before income tax (3,891,050) (526,984)

Income tax expense 3 - -

Loss after income tax (3,891,050) (526,984)

Other comprehensive income (18,392) -

Total comprehensive loss (3,909,442) (526,984)

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) 12 (3.83) (0.82)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLidATEd STATEmENT OF 
COmPREhENSivE iNCOmE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2012
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Note
2012

$
2011

$

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 13(b) 637,842 3,041,634

Trade and other receivables 5 149,502 136,144

Total Current Assets 787,344 3,177,778

Non-Current Assets

Trade and other receivables 5 237,900 214,602

Plant and equipment 6 44,782 50,325

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 7 8,670,646 3,284,387

Total Non-Current Assets 8,953,328 3,549,314

TOTAL ASSETS 9,740,672 6,727,092

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 8 166,967 210,235

Total Current Liabilities 166,967 210,235

TOTAL LIABILITIES 166,967  210,235

NET ASSETS 9,573,705 6,516,857

EQuITY

Contributed equity 9 14,241,787 7,275,497

Accumulated loss (4,649,690) (758,640)

Foreign currency translation reserve (18,392) -

TOTAL EQuITY 9,573,705 6,516,857

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLidATEd STATEmENT OF 

FiNANCiAL POSiTiON 
AS AT 30 JuNE 2012
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2011

Contributed Equity

$

Accumulated 
Losses

$

Foreign Currency 
Translation 

Reserve

$

Total

$

Balance at 1 July 2010 6,995,497 (231,656) - 6,763,841

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (526,984) - (526,984)

Shares issued during the year 280,000 - - 280,000

Balance at 30 June 2011 7,275,497 (758,640) - 6,516,857

2012

Balance at 1 July 2011 7,275,497 (758,640) - 6,516,857

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (3,891,050) (18,392) (3,909,442)

Shares issued during the year 7,025,090 - - 7,025,090

Cost of equity issue (58,800) - - (58,800)

Balance at 30 June 2012 14,241,787 (4,649,690) (18,392) 9,573,705

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLidATEd STATEmENT OF 
ChANGES iN EQUiTy 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2012
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Note
2012

$
2011

$

Cash flows from operating activities

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,958,732) (745,917)

Interest received 160,991 202,164

Net cash used in operating activities 13 (a) (1,797,741) (543,753)

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for exploration expenditures (1,637,102) (735,410)

Payments for plant and equipment (9,032) (52,939)

Cash acquired on acquisition of subsidiary 137,275 -

Net cash used in investing activities (1,508,859) (788,349)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares (net of share issue costs) 921,200 -

Net cash provided by financing activities 921,200 -

Net decrease in cash held (2,385,400) (1,332,102)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period 3,041,634 4,373,736

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (18,392) -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 13 (b) 637,842 3,041,634

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLidATEd STATEmENT OF 
CASh FLOwS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2012
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial report covers the Company of Inca Minerals Limited and controlled entities, a listed public company incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia.

The financial report was authorised for issue on 28 September 2012 by the Board of Directors.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board and the Corporations Act 2001. 

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in a financial report 
containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Compliance with Australian Accounting 
Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

In the year ended 30 June 2012, the company has reviewed all of the new and revised Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period.  It has 
been determined by the company that there is no impact, material or otherwise, of the new Standards and Interpretations on its 
business and therefore, no changes are required to its accounting policies.   Material accounting policies adopted in preparation 
of this financial report are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.

The financial report has been prepared on an accrual basis and is based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the 
measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.

GOING CONCERN
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal business 
activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business. 

For the year ended 30 June 2012, the company and consolidated entity incurred after tax losses of $3,909,442 and $3,891,050 
respectively and the consolidated entity had net cash outflows of $2,385,400. 

The Directors believe that it is reasonably foreseeable that the company and consolidated entity will continue as going concerns 
and that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial report after consideration of the 
following factors: 

• As disclosed in Note 18, subsequent to year end the company raised $1,100,000 from the issue of shares; 

• The consolidated entity has cash at bank at the reporting date of $637,842, net working capital of $620,377 and net assets 
of $9,573,705;

• The ability of the Group to raise capital by the issue additional shares under the Corporation Act 2001; and

• The ability to curtail administration and operational cash out flows as required. 

ACCOuNTING POLICIES

a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of entities controlled by Inca Minerals Limited 
at the end of the reporting period. A controlled entity is any entity over which Inca Minerals Limited has the ability and right to 
govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from the entity’s activities. 

Where controlled entities have entered or left the consolidated entity during the year, the financial performance of those entities 
is included only for the period of the year that they were controlled.  A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 20 to the 
financial statements.

Non-controlling interests, being the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent, are reported 
separately within the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive income.  
The non-controlling interests in the net assets comprise their interests at the date of the original business combination and their 
share of changes in equity since that date.

b) Revenue Recognition

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial asset.

NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2012
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

c) Income Tax

The income tax expense (revenue) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and deferred tax expense 
(income). Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using 
applicable income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at reporting date. Current tax liabilities (assets) are therefore 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.

Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the year as well 
as unused tax losses.

Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited directly to equity instead of profit or loss when the tax 
related to items that are credited or charged directly to equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets also result where amounts have been fully 
expensed but future tax deductions are available. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at reporting date. Their measurement also reflects 
the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. 

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised.

Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint ventures, deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it 
is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a largely enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended that net settlement 
or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, the deferred tax assets and liabilities related to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net 
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in which 
significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 

d) Mining Tenements and Exploration and Development Expenditure

Mining tenements are carried at cost, less accumulated impairment losses.

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest.  
These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful development 
and/or sale of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the 
existence of economically recoverable reserves.

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which the decision to 
abandon the area is made.

When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over the life of the area 
according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves.

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in 
relation to that area of interest.

Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and are included in the costs 
of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of mining plant, equipment and building structures, 
waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with clauses of the mining permits.  Such costs have been determined 
using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis.

Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis.  In determining the costs of site restoration, 
there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community expectations and future legislation.  
Accordingly the costs have been determined on the basis that the restoration will be completed within one year of abandoning 
the site.

NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

e) Financial Instruments

Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised when the entity becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Trade date accounting is adopted for financial assets that are delivered within 
timeframes established by marketplace convention.

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs where the instrument is not classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs related to instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are expensed 
to profit or loss immediately. Financial instruments are classified and measured as set out below.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is transferred to 
another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with 
the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The 
difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and their fair value of 
consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Classification and Subsequent Measurement

i. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss when they are held for trading for the purpose of short term 
profit taking, where they are derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or designed as such to avoid an accounting mismatch 
or to enable performance evaluation where a group or financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair 
value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Realised and unrealised gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

ii. Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

iii. Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments, 
and it is the Company’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.

iv. Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated as such or that are not classified 
in any of the other categories. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity 
nor fixed or determinable payments.

v. Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

Fair value

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are applied to determine 
the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option 
pricing models.

f) Impairment of Assets 

At each reporting date, the entity reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being 
the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the 
asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive income. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair 
value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the 
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

g) Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment.  In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable 
amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are 
recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset.  

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable 
amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows that will be received 
from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present 
values in determining recoverable amounts.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial 
period in which they are incurred.

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the Company 
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Class of fixed asset    Depreciation rate
Plant and equipment    20–33%
Motor vehicles      20–33%
IT equipment     33%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than 
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses are 
included in the statement of comprehensive income. 

h) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks.

i) Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of 
GST. Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and 
financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

j) Contributed Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from 
the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the acquisition of a business are 
not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.

k)  Earnings per Share

i. Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial 
year.

ii. Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the 
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted 
average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

39

FiNANCiAL REPORT 2012



NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

l) Leases

Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not the legal 
ownership that are transferred to the economic entity, are classified as finance leases.

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value of the leased 
property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values.  Lease payments are 
allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term. Lease 
payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses in 
the periods in which they are incurred.

m) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the Company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to reporting 
date. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be 
paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits.

n) Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments, has been identified as the board of directors. 

o) Trade and Other Receivables

Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers for goods sold and services performed in the ordinary course 
of business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as current 
assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any provision for impairment.

p) Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity that remain unpaid at the end of 
the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition 
of the liability.

q) Foreign Currency Transactions Balances 

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the parent entity’s 
functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at 
historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss, except where deferred in 
equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in other comprehensive income 
to the extent that the underlying gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income; otherwise the exchange difference 
is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

q) Foreign Currency Transactions Balances (continued)

Group companies

The financial results and position of foreign operations, whose functional currency is different from the Group’s presentation 
currency, are translated as follows:

• assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period; 

• income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and

• retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations with functional currencies other than Australian dollars are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and included in the foreign currency translation reserve in the statement of financial 
position. These differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

r) Critical Accounting Estimates and Other Accounting Judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The Company is of the view that there are no critical accounting estimates and judgements in this financial report, other than 
accounting estimates and judgements in relation to the carrying value of mineral exploration expenditure.

Key judgements

Deferred exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation costs are carried forward where right of tenure of the area of interest is current.  These costs are 
carried forward in respect of an area that has not at reporting date reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the 
existence of economically recoverable reserves, or alternatively, are expected to be sold. Refer to the accounting policy stated 
in Note 1(d).

s) Comparative Figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the 
current financial year.

NOTE 2: REVENUE AND OTHER EXPENSES
Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Interest received 125,604 202,128

Sundry income 8,000 -

133,604 202,128

Rent expense 18,823 -
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 3: INCOME TAX
a) Income tax recognised in profit

No income tax is payable by the Company as it recorded losses for income tax purposes for the year.

b) Numerical reconciliation between income tax expense and the loss before income tax

Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Loss before income tax (3,891,050) (526,984)

Income tax at 30% 1,167,315 158,095

Tax effect of:

Deferred tax asset not recognised (1,167,315) (158,095)

Income tax expense - -

(c) unrecognised deferred tax balances

Tax losses available to the Company 7,546,769 4,354,555

Potential tax benefit at 30% 2,264,031 1,306,366

A deferred tax asset attributable to income tax losses has not been recognised at reporting date as the probability criteria 
disclosed in Note 1(c) is not satisfied and such benefit will only be available if the conditions of deductibility, also disclosed in 
Note 1(c), are satisfied. 

NOTE 4: DIVIDENDS
No dividends were paid or declared since the start of the financial year. No recommendation for payment of dividends has been 
made. 

NOTE 5: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Current

Interest receivable - 58,685

Other receivables 73,814 40,000

Goods and services tax 75,688 33,034

Prepayments - 4,425

149,502 136,144

Non-current

Employee share loans 237,900 214,602

Total trade and other receivables 387,402 350,746

Employee share loans consist of interest-free loans given to former senior executives in order to purchase shares in the Company. 
The loans have been measured at their discounted value based on market lending rates to fair value according to the loan term. 
For more information on the terms and conditions of the employee share loans refer to Note 11.
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 6: PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and 

equipment

$

Motor 
vehicles

$

IT equipment

$

Total

$

Balance at 1 July 2010 - - - -

Additions 10,656 40,026 2,257 52,939

Depreciation (545) (2,017) (52) (2,614)

Balance at 30 June 2011 10,111 38,009 2,205 50,325

At cost 10,656 40,026 2,257 52,939

Accumulated depreciation (545) (2,017) (52) (2,614)

Balance at 30 June 2011 10,111 38,009 2,205 50,325

Balance at 1 July 2011 10,111 38,009 2,205 50,325

Additions 1,596 - 7,432 9,028

Additions acquired on acquisition of subsidiary 8,478 - - 8,478

Depreciation (8,552) (13,341) (1,156) (23,049)

Balance at 30 June 2012 11,633 24,668 8,481 44,782

At cost 20,730 40,026 10,159 70,915

Accumulated depreciation (9,097) (15,358) (1,678) (26,133)

Balance at 30 June 2012 11,633 24,668 8,481 44,782

NOTE 7: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE
Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in the following phases:

Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Exploration and evaluation phase – at cost

Balance at 1 July 3,284,387 2,548,977

Expenditure incurred 1,895,512 735,410

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiary 5,721,560 -

Expenditure written off (2,230,813) -

Balance at 30 June 8,670,646 3,284,387

The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation phases is dependent on the successful 
development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective mining areas. 
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 8: PAYABLES (CURRENT)
Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Trade and other creditors 166,967 210,235

NOTE 9: CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

a) Paid up capital

Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

190,651,500 ordinary shares  (30 June 2011: 65,400,000 ordinary 
shares) 14,241,787 7,275,497

b) Movements in shares on issue

No of shares
Paid up capital

$

Balance at 1 July 2010 64,000,000 6,995,497

Transaction costs from issue of shares in prior year 1,400,000 280,000

Balance at 30 June 2011 65,400,000 7,275,497

 Issued 8 March 2012 (*) 98,106,500 5,886,390

 Issued 12 April 2012 24,500,000 980,000

 Issued 4 May 2012 (*) 2,645,000 158,700

 Transaction costs from issue of shares - (58,800)

Balance at 30 June 2012 190,651,500 14,241,787

* fair value of shares issued as consideration for acquisition of Urcaguary Limited (note 20)

c)  Movements in options on issue  

There were nil options issued and nil outstanding options over unissued ordinary shares during the year.

d)  Ordinary shares  

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up of the Company, to participate in 
the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held.  
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 10: INTERESTS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
a) Key management personnel compensation

Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Director’s Report for details of the remuneration paid to each member of the 
Company’s key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2012.

The totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Company during the year are as follows:

Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Short-term employee benefits 300,283 391,635

Other payments - 25,000

Post-employment benefits 23,326 13,314

323,609 429,949

b) Key management personnel shareholdings 

The number of ordinary shares in Inca Minerals Limited held by each key management personnel of the Company during the 
financial year is as follows:

Balance
1 July 2011

Acquired/
Disposed At Resignation

At 
Appointment

Balance
30 June 2012

Directors

Justin Walawski - - - 227,000 227,000

Ross Brown - - - 23,000,000 23,000,000

Laurence Ziatas - - - 23,000,000 23,000,000

Laurence Freedman* 7,137,869 100,000 (7,237,869) - -

Ross Gillon* 1,161,000 (30,000) (1,131,000) - -

Robert Schuitema* 390,000 - (390,000) - -

Executives

John McKinstry* 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - -

Wade Johnson* 400,000 - (400,000) - -

Totals 10,088,869 70,000 (10,158,869) 46,227,000 46,227,000

* ceased to be key management personnel during the year and shareholding is as at date of resignation.

Balance
1 July 2010

Acquired/
Disposed

At 
Resignation

At 
Appointment

Balance
30 June 2011

Directors
Ian Burston * - - - - -

Elaine Carr * 27,400 - (27,400) - -

Ross Gillon 1,111,000 - - 50,000 1,161,000

Brian Martin * 182,000 - (182,000) - -

Laurence Freedman - - - 7,137,869 7,137,869

Robert Schuitema - - - 390,000 390,000

Executives -
Bevan Jaggard * 218,800 - (218,800) - -

John McKinstry - - 1,000,000 1,000,000

Wade Johnson - - 400,000 400,000

Totals 1,539,200 - (428,200) 8,977,869 10,088,869

* ceased to be key management personnel during the year
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 11: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Other transactions and balances with directors and other key management personnel

Service agreement

During the financial year, nil (2011: $40,000) was paid to Noble Pacific Pty Ltd.

Investor relations services

The Company has previously engaged Radar Group Pty Ltd, a former director-related entity, to perform investor relations 
activities on behalf of the Company. The total value of services provided in the current year was $53,500 (2011: $54,303). The 
services were provided on an arm’s length basis. The Engagement was terminated in May 2012.

Legal Services

Minotaur Nominees Pty Ltd, a director-related entity, was engaged during the year to provide a legal and strategic review of 
the Company’s Western Australian tenement and tenement rights at a cost of $10,000. The services were provided on an arm’s 
length basis.

Administrative Services 

Administrative services, including the provision of services provided by Key Management Personnel, were charged by Carrick 
Gold Limited (“Carrick”), a former director-related entity. During the financial year ended 30 June 2012, a total amount of $203,144 
was paid by the Company to Carrick for these services.

Employee Share Loans

During the 2011 financial year the Company issued two unsecured interest-free non-recourse loans to two former executives in 
order to fund a purchase of the Company’s shares on behalf of these executives.  These executives are no longer employees of 
the Company. The loan term is for three years and 50% of the shares held must be kept in escrow for a minimum of two years; 
the other 50% of the shares held must be kept in escrow for three years.  The loan agreements (Agreement) for Employee Shares 
contain the following repayment provisions:

Repayment of the Principal Sum (or any part of the Principal Sum that remains outstanding) (Outstanding Balance) must occur 
on the earlier of:

a. The sale or transfer of any or all of the Employee Shares in accordance with the Agreement;
b. 30 days after the Employee ceasing to be employed by Carrick Gold Limited or any of its subsidiaries; and
c. The date which is three (3) years and one (1) month after the date of the Agreement, (each being a Repayment Event).

In respect of the Repayment Event specified in (a) above, the Employee must repay the Outstanding Balance to Inca Minerals 
Limited (or its nominee) to the extent of the proceeds from the sale of the Employee Shares.

Upon the occurrence of a Repayment Event specified in (b) or (c) above, the Employee must repay Inca Minerals Limited (or its 
nominee) all of the Outstanding Balance.

NOTE 12: LOSS PER SHARE
(a) Basic Earnings Per Share

Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Loss used in calculating basic earnings per share (3,891,350) (526,984)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue during the year used as the 
denominator in calculating basic loss per share 101,757,227 64,482,740

Basic loss per share (cents) (3.83) (0.82)

(b) Diluted loss per share    

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share as there are no potential ordinary shares that are dilutive.
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 13: CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Reconciliation of the net loss after income tax to the net cash flows from operating activities

2012
$

2011
$

Net loss for the year (3,891,050) (526,984)

Depreciation 23,049 2,614

Exploration and evaluation expenditure written off 2,230,813 -

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisition of subsidiary 

Decrease in trade and other receivables 213,721 (60,757)

Decrease in trade and other creditors (374,274) 41,374

Net cash outflow from operating activities (1,797,741) (543,753)

(b) Reconciliation of cash

Cash balance comprises:

cash assets 637,842 3,041,634

(c) Non-cash financing activities

During the year, the Company issued 100,751,500 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.06 per share to acquire its 100% owned subsidiary, 
Urcaguary Ltd (formerly Inca Minerals Ltd).

NOTE 14: EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
The Company has certain commitments to meet minimum expenditure requirements on the mineral exploration assets in which 
it has an interest. Outstanding exploration commitments for the next twelve months are as follows:

Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Not later than one year 2,525,674 349,863

Between one and five years 12,350,000 454,367

14,875,674 804,230
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NOTE 14: EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
The Group has entered into two separate agreements for the acquisition of interests in mining concessions with two separate 
parties:

1. Mining option and assignment agreements dated 24 June 2011 granting the Group the exclusive option to acquire Minera 
Altas Cumbres SAC’s (MAC) interest in 20 mining concessions over land totalling 805.346 hectares referred to as the Chanape 
Project. The key terms of the agreements are set out below:

Option consideration US$1,500,000 consisting of 60 payments of $25,000 plus the applicable VAT commencing one 
month after signing date, i.e. 24 July 2011. (Term: 5 years)

Purchase price US$3,000,000.  

Additional purchase 
consideration

Shares in the Company to the Vendor’s major shareholder (Mr Gino Venturi) to the value of 
USD$500,000 at an issue price of no less than AUD$0.20 cents per share twelve months after 
the Company lists.

Exclusive option & 
assignment fees

US$100,000 

Mining assignment period 5 years from the date of signing of the agreement, i.e. 5 years from 24 June 2011.

Exploration expenditure 
committed

A minimum of US$3,600,000 plus applicable VAT on drilling as follows:

1 March 2012 to 31 December 2012 – US$350,000;

1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013 – US$500,000;

1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014 – US$750,000;

1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015 – US$1,000,000;

1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016 – US$1,000,000

NSR Royalty Upon the beginning of commercial production a US$20 per ounce of gold equivalent net 
smelter royalty to be calculated in accordance with the terms and conditions.

Cancellability The Group has the right to terminate at any time during the option period. Any unpaid 
amounts are not payable to the vendor.

2. Mining option, mining assignment and option of a future asset agreement dated 23 June 2011 granting the Group the 
exclusive right to acquire Daniel Oscar Chavez Ticona’s (Chavez) interest in 10 mining concessions over land totalling 7,000 
hectares referred to as the Moquegua Regional Project. This agreement is comprised of three parts.

Part 1

This part relates to two concessions comprising the Virgen De Chapi project and two western concessions comprising part of the 
Oscar Alberto project. The Group has the exclusive right at any stage to withdraw from the agreement and not proceed.  The 
key terms of Part 1 are:

1. The Group spends US$3 million on exploration in the first 3 years to obtain 50% interest. 

2. The Group and Chavez then incorporate a joint venture company (JVCO) and contribute their respective 50% interest in the 
Virgen De Chapi project and the two western concessions comprising part of the Oscar Alberto project into the JVCO.  

3. The Group can then exercise an option to acquire the 50% in JVCO from Chavez as follows:

a. US$3m cash; or
b. Issuing shares to the value of US$3m in the Company to Chavez; or

c. Combination of cash and shares at the Group’s discretion; or

d. Continuing with exploration and development within the JV structure with Chavez.

NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 14: EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
Part 2 

The amount payable for this part is 1,300,000 shares to be issued at $AUD0.10 for the purchase of two eastern concessions 
comprising the Oscar Alberto project, two concessions comprising the Jose Alonso project and two concessions comprising the 
Agua Blanca project.

Part 3

The Group has agreed to employ Chavez as a consultant for a period of 38 months with effect from 15 July 2011.  The amounts 
payable are as follows:

1 August 2011 – 30 June 2012 $58,600

1 July 2012 – 30 June 2013 $48,000

1 July 2013 – 31 October 2014 $16,000

Operating Commitments

The Company has certain operating lease commitments. Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not recognised in 
the financial statements:

2012
$

2011
$

Not later than one year 43,360 28,367

Between one and five years 86,720 40,737

130,080 69,104

NOTE 15: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
Statutory audit

2012
$

2011
$

  Audit and review of financial statements 26,750 23,375
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 16: SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the board of 
directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources.

The Company operates in the segments of mineral exploration within Peru and Australia. In 2011, the Company only operated in 
mineral exploration in Australia.

The Company is domiciled in Australia. All revenue from external parties is generated from Australia only. Segment revenues are 
allocated based on the country in which the party is located.

Operating revenues of approximately Nil (2011 - Nil) are derived from a single external party.

All the assets are located in Peru and Australia. Segment assets are allocated to countries based on where the assets are located.

Reportable segments:
Australia

$
Peru

 $
Consolidated

 $

Segment revenue

 2012      117,297      16,307     133,604

 2011     202,128 -     202,128

Segment result

 2012 (3,777,873)   (113,177) (3,891,050)

 2011   (526,984) -    (526,984)

Segment assets

 2012  4,055,173 5,685,499   9,740,672

 2011  6,727,092 -   6,727,092

Segment liabilities

 2012    (66,236) (100,731)   (166,967)

 2011   (210,235) -    (210,235)

Depreciation and amortisation expense

 2012   (23,049) -    (23,049)

 2011      (2,614) -       (2,614)
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
 (a) Interest rate risk

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest rate for each class of financial assets and financial 
liabilities is set out below:

Weighted average
interest rate 

(%)

Floating interest 
rate

$

Fixed interest 
maturing

1 year or less

$

Fixed interest 
maturing

1 to 5 years

$

30 June 2012

Cash assets 4.99 137,842 500,000 -

30 June 2011

Cash assets 5.31 541,634 2,500,000 -

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

At 30 June 2012, if interest rates had changed by 50 basis points during the entire year with all other variables held constant, 
profit for the year and equity would have been $9,199 higher/lower (2011: $16,681), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest 
income from cash and cash equivalents.

A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and 
represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates.

b) Credit risk 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date on financial assets of the Company is the carrying amount, net of any 
provisions for doubtful debts, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements.

c) Commodity price risk 

The Company is not exposed to commodity price risk as the operations of the Company are not yet at the production stage.

d) Liquidity risk 

The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows.

The table on the following page analyses the entity’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period from the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. As the amounts disclosed in the table are 
the contractual undiscounted cash flows, these balances will not necessarily agree with the amounts disclosed in the statement 
of financial position.
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Less than 6 
months

$

6 months
to 1 year

$

1 to 5 years

$

Total

$

30 June 2012

Financial liabilities due for payment

Trade and other payables (166,967) - - (166,967)

(166,967) - - (166,967)

Financial assets – cash flows realisable

Cash assets 637,842 - - 637,842

Trade and other receivable 149,502 - 237,900 387,402

787,344 - 237,900 1,025,244

Net (outflow)/inflow on financial 
instruments 620,377 - 237,900 858,277

30 June 2011

Financial liabilities due for payment

Trade and other payables (210,235) - - (210,235)

(210,235) - - (210,235)

Financial assets – cash flows realisable

Cash assets 3,041,634 - - 3,041,634

Trade and other receivable 136,144 - 214,602 350,746

3,177,778 - 214,602 3,392,380

Net (outflow)/inflow on financial 
instruments 2,967,543 - 214,602 3,182,145

e) Foreign exchange risk 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as certain transactions are denominated in United States dollars as a result of 
now operating in Peru.

f) Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial instruments included in the statement of financial position approximate their fair values due 
to their short terms of maturity.
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 18: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
There were no events of significance subsequent to 30 June 2012, other than that noted below.

On the 14th and 15th of February 2012, the Company advised the Market of a claim against the Company’s fully owned subsidiary 
by Trident Capital Pty Ltd (“Trident”). The Company further advised to the Market on 12 September 2012 that its subsidiary had, 
on that date, been served with a Writ of Summons by Trident. The Company’s position, based on independent legal advice, 
remains unchanged in that the action is without any merit and will be vigorously defended.

On 16 August 2012, the Company announced to the market that it had raised $1.1 million through the placement of 64.7 million 
fully paid ordinary shares to sophisticated investors at $0.017 per share (“Placement”). The Placement was managed by Element 
Capital and will occur in two tranches (Tranche 1 and Tranche 2). Tranche 1 was issued within Inca’s 15% placement capacity, 
pursuant to the ASX Listing Rules, with settlement on 23 August 2012. Tranche 2 shares will be issued, subject to shareholder 
approval, 7 days after approval is obtained at a General Meeting of shareholders scheduled for 28 September 2012.

NOTE 19: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There are no contingent liabilities at reporting date.

NOTE 20: CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Country of 
Incorporation

Percentage Owned (%)

2012 2011

Subsidiaries of Inca Minerals Limited:

Urcaguary Ltd (formerly Inca Minerals Limited) Australia 100 -

Inca Minerales SAC Peru 100 -

During the year the Company acquired 100% of the issued capital of Urcaguary Limited ("Urcaguary") and Urcaguary’s controlled 
entity (Inca Minerales SAC).

The acquisition of Urcaguary was treated as an asset purchase. It was impractical to determine the fair value of Urcaguary using 
other methods, management of the Group therefore measured the purchase based upon the fair value of the shares and options 
issued in acquiring the company. 

The total cost of the acquisition was $6,045,090 and comprised the issue of 100,751,500 ordinary shares with a fair value of $0.06 
per share.  The fair values of the shares are based on the quoted price of the shares of Inca Minerals Limited on 14 February 2012 
when the offer became unconditional. 

Recognised on acquisition
$

Cash 137,275

Trade and other receivables 250,377

Plant and equipment 8,474

Exploration and evaluation 5,979,970

Trade and other payables (331,006)

Net assets acquired 6,045,090

Cost of acquisition

Shares issued at fair value 6,045,090
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 21: PARENT INFORMATION
2012

$
2011

$

Financial position

Assets

Current assets 611,548 3,177,778

Non-current assets 9,020,743 3,549,314

Total assets 9,632,291 6,727,092

Liabilities

Current liabilities 58,586 210,235

Non-current liabilities - -

Total liabilities 58,586 210,235

Net Assets 9,573,705 6,516,857

Equity

Issued capital 14,241,787 7,275,497

Accumulated Losses (4,668,082) (758,640)

Reserves - -

Total equity 9,573,705 6,516,857

Financial performance

(Loss) for the year (3,909,442) (526,984)

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income (3,909,442) (526,984)

There are no guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries.

There are no contingent liabilities of the parent entity as at the reporting date.

There are no contractual commitments by the parent entity for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment as at the 
reporting date.
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NOTES TO ThE FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS (continued)

NOTE 22: NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT 
YET EFFECTIVE
At the date of this financial report, the following standards and interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective:

Reference Title Summary
Application date 

(financial years beginning)

AASB 9 Financial Instruments Replaces the requirements of AASB 139 for the 
classification and measurement of financial assets. 
This is the result of the first part of Phase 1 of the 
IASB’s project to replace IAS 39.

1 January 2013 (likely to be 
extended to 2015 by ED 215)

AASB 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements

Replaces the requirements of AASB 127 and 
Interpretation 112 pertaining to the principles to 
be applied in the preparation and presentation of 
consolidated financial statements.

1 January 2013

AASB 12 Disclosure of 
Interests in Other 
Entities

Replaces the disclosure requirements of AASB 127 
and AASB 131 pertaining to interests in other entities.

1 January 2013

AASB 127 Separate Financial 
Statements

Prescribes the accounting and disclosure 
requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates when an entity prepares 
separate financial statements.

1 January 2013

AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement

Provides a clear definition of fair value, a framework 
for measuring fair value and requires enhanced 
disclosures about fair value measurement.

1 January 2013

AASB 119 Employee Benefits Prescribes the accounting and disclosure for 
employee benefits. This Standard prescribes the 
recognition criteria when in exchange for employee 
benefits.

1 January 2013

The entity has decided against early adoption of these standards and interpretations. Furthermore, these changes in standards 
and interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on 
foreseeable future transactions.

NOTE 23: COMPANY DETAILS
The principal place of business of the Company is:

 Inca Minerals Limited
 1030 Wellington Street
 West Perth, WA, 6005
 Australia
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The directors of the company declare that:

1. the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 11 to 37, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:

a. comply with Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy Note 1 to the financial statements, 
constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and

b. give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of the performance for the year ended on 
that date of the consolidated entity;

2. the directors have been given the declarations required by s295A of the Corporations Act 2001 that:

a. the financial records of the company for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with s 286 
of the Corporations Act 2001;

b. the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with Accounting Standards; and

c. the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view; and

3. in the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

On behalf of the Directors:

   

Justin Walawski
Director

Dated at Perth this 28th day of September 2012

diRECTORS’ dECLARATiON
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AUdiTOR’S iNdEPENdENCE dECLARATiON
uNDER S 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF INCA MINERALS 
LIMITED

57

FiNANCiAL REPORT 2012



iNdEPENdENT AUdiTOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF INCA MINERALS LIMITED
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iNdEPENdENT AUdiTOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF INCA MINERALS LIMITED
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The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 8 October 2012.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The Company currently has issued capital of 255,357,388 fully paid ordinary shares.  The Company currently has no other class of 
security or options on issue.

VOTING RIGHTS
The Company’s Constitution provides that at a meeting of shareholders and on a show of hands, each shareholder present in 
person and each other person present as a proxy, attorney of representative of a shareholder has one vote.  On a poll, each 
shareholder present in person has one vote for each fully paid ordinary share held by the shareholder and each person as a proxy, 
attorney or representative of a shareholder has one vote for each fully paid ordinary share held by the shareholder that person 
represents.

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
The names and details of the twenty largest quoted shareholdings are as follows:

Rank Shareholder Number of Shares % Total Issued Capital

1 Flexiplan Management Pty Ltd 40,347,720 15.800

2 Ross Brown* 23,000,000 9.007

3 Aqa Corporation Pty Ltd** 18,400,000 7.206

4 Maxigold Holdings Pty Ltd 17,463,790 6.839

5 Susan Carr 12,800,000 5.013

6 Chihong International Mining Ltd 9,749,000 3.818

7 Charrington Pty Ltd*** 7,882,360 3.087

8 Luis Aguilar 6,900,000 2.702

9 Element Resources Fund Pty Ltd 6,900,000 2.702

10 Carrick Gold Ltd 5,600,037 2.193

11 Minotaur Nominees Pty Ltd** 4,600,000 1.801

12 Laurie Sorgiovanni 4,005,000 1.568

13 Salvatore Manera & Jill Manera 3,941,180 1.543

14 Rum Runner (WA) Pty Ltd 3,529,412 1.382

15 Josip Horvat 2,500,000 0.979

16 Premar Capital Nominees Pty Ltd 2,146,128 0.840

17 Link 405 Pty Ltd 2,009,369 0.787

18 Jane Glass 2,000,000 0.783

19 Dennis Hawtin & Rosemary Hawtin 2,000,000 0.783

20 Ryan Marshall & Nicole Marshall 1,840,000 0.721

Total 177,613,996 69.554%

*   Company Director.    

**  Company Director (Laurence Ziatas) related entities.

***  Charrington Pty Ltd <The Windsor Super Account> holds 5,882,360 shares and Charrington Pty Ltd <The Windsor A/C> holds 2,000,000  
 shares.

ShAREhOLdER iNFORmATiON
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DISTRIBUTION OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Analysis of number of equity holders by size of holding:

Spread of Holdings Number of Holders Number of Shares % Total Issued Capital

1 – 1,000 133 65,677 0.026%

1,001 – 5,000 80 221,816 0.087%

5,001 – 10,000 86 788,136 0.309%

10,001 – 100,000 259 10,308,665 4.037%

> 100,000 229 243,973,094 95.542%

Total 787 255,357,388 100.00%

There were 374 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of shares (based on $0.026 per share as the market price at 
the close of business on 7 October 2012) (a total of 2,141,752 shares).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
The names and details of substantial shareholders in the Company are as follows:

Rank Shareholder Number of Shares % Total Issued Capital

1 Flexiplan Management Pty Ltd 40,347,720 15.800

2 Ross Brown* 23,000,000 9.007

3 Aqa Corporation Pty Ltd** 18,400,000 7.206

4 Maxigold Holdings Pty Ltd 17,463,790 6.839

5 Susan Carr 12,800,000 5.013

Total 112,011,510 43.865%

*  Company Director.    

**  Company Director (Laurence Ziatas) related entity.  In addition, Minotaur Nominees Pty Ltd is a Company Director (Laurence Ziatas) related 
entity holding a further 4,600,000 shares (1.801%).

SECURITIES SUBJECT TO ESCROW
The names of shareholders and details of securities subject to voluntary escrow are as follows:

Shareholder Number of Ordinary Shares Date Escrow Ends

Ross Brown* 23,000,000 5.00pm (WST) 2 March 2013

Aqa Corporation Pty Ltd** 18,400,000 5.00pm (WST) 2 March 2013

Minotaur Nominees Pty Ltd** 4,600,000 5.00pm (WST) 2 March 2013

Bernardine Dove 345,000 5.00pm (WST) 2 March 2013

*  Company Director.    

**  Company Director (Laurence Ziatas) related entities. 

shareholder information (continued)
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Country/
State Project Prospect

Tenement Identification

Ownership Titleholder

Tenement 
Number 

(WA)
Mining 

Concession Name Code

Mining 
Public 

Regristry
Peru Chanape Chanape Chanape 010215606 12011933 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC

Chanape 1 010216806 12012043 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
San Antonio 1 010416806 12012104 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
San Antonio 2 De 
Chanape

010416906 12037302 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC

San Antonio 3 De 
Chanape

010417006 12048712 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC

San Antonio 4 010417106 12048714 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
San Antonio 5 010417906 12011970 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
San Antonio 6 010418006 12037197 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
San Antonio 7 010418406 12037311 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
San Antonio 8 010418406 12012123 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
San Antonio 9 010417206 12012100 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
San Antonio 10 010417306 12011962 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
San Antonio De 
Chanape

010418306 12012097 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC

Violeta De 
Chanape

010417406 12048715 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC

Violeta 1 De 
Chanape

010433806 12048716 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC

Violeta 2 010417506 12012136 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
Violeta 3 010417706 12012150 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
Violeta 4 010433906 12005564 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
Violeta 5 010417606 12011888 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC
10 De Julio De 
Chanape

010418206 12012091 Earning 100%1 Inca Minerales SAC

Chanape 
SW

INCA M1 010509211 12866246 100% Inca Minerales SAC

INCA M2 010509111 12867483 100% Inca Minerales SAC
INCA M3 010509011 12866294 100% Inca Minerales SAC
INCA M4 010508911 12867121 100% Inca Minerales SAC
INCA M5 010508811 Pending 100% Inca Minerales SAC
INCA M6 010508711 Pending 100% Inca Minerales SAC
INCA M7 010508611 12866014 100% Inca Minerales SAC
INCA M8 010508511 12865832 100% Inca Minerales SAC
INCA M9 010508411 12865701 100% Inca Minerales SAC
INCA M10 010508311 12865724 100% Inca Minerales SAC

Moquegua Virgen de 
Chapi

Virgencita De 
Chapi VI

680002608 Pending Earning 100%2 Inca Minerales SAC

Virgencita De 
Chapi VII

680000110 11228178 Earing 100%2 Inca Minerales SAC

Oscar 
Alberto

Ana Melva 
Cobresur I

680000210 11228183 Earning 100%2 Inca Minerales SAC

Oscar Alberto I 050024807 11109259 Earing 100%2 Inca Minerales SAC
Ana Melva 
Cobresur II

050011410 11204479 Earning 100%2 Inca Minerales SAC

Ana Melva 
Cobresur III

680002211 11219342 Earing 100%2 Inca Minerales SAC

LiST OF TENEmENTS 
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Country/
State Project Prospect

Tenement Identification

Ownership Titleholder

Tenement 
Number 

(WA)
Mining 

Concession Name Code

Mining 
Public 

Regristry
Agua 
Blanco

Jose Alonso 
Cobresur III 680002911 Pending 100% Inca Minerales SAC

Jose Alonso 
Cobresur IV 680002811 11219348 100% Inca Minerales SAC

Jose Alonso Jose Alonso 
Cobresur V 680003311 11219355 100% Inca Minerales SAC

Jose Alonso 
Cobresur 8 680004711 Pending 100% Inca Minerales SAC

Jose Alonso 
Cobresur 14 680008111 11219339 100% Inca Minerales SAC

Jose Alonso 
Cobresur 13 680008211 11219000 100% Inca Minerales SAC

Jose Alonso 
Cobresur 11 680007811 Pending 100% Inca Minerales SAC

WA Kalgoorlie 
NE Wyo Well EL28/1432 100% Ni-rights3 Carrick Gold

ELA28/2193 100% Ni-rights Inca Minerals Ltd
Grey Dam EL28/1477 100% Ni-rights3 Carrick Gold

EL28/1787 100% Ni-rights3 Carrick Gold
Dingo 
Range EL37/975 100% non--gold 

-rights4 Inca Minerals Ltd

ELA37/1124 100% non-gold-
rights4 Inca Minerals Ltd

EL53/1352-1 100% non--gold 
-rights4 Inca Minerals Ltd

EL53/1377-1 100% non-gold-
rights4 Inca Minerals Ltd

EL53/1380-1 100% non--gold 
-rights4 Inca Minerals Ltd

EL53/1407-1 100% non-gold-
rights4 Inca Minerals Ltd

PL53/1573 100% Inca Minerals Ltd
PLA53/1574 100% Inca Minerals Ltd
ELA53/1663 100% Inca Minerals Ltd

Southern 
Cross EL77/1898 100% Inca Minerals Ltd

Kallona EL46/753 100%5 Inca Minerals Ltd
Cathedral 
Gorge ELA47/2630 100% Inca Minerals Ltd

Andes EL52/2723 100% Inca Minerals Ltd

Note 1: Inca Minerales has a right to earn 100% of the concession under a Mining Option Agreement (refer to Note 14 to the 
Financial Statements)

Note 2: Inca Minerales has a right to earn 100% of the concession under a Mining Option Agreement (refer to Note 14 to the 
Financial Statements)

Note 3: Inca Minerals Limited has Ni rights from Carrick Gold Limited

Note 4: Inca Mineral Limited sold gold rights to Carrick Gold Limited

List of Tenements (continued) 
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